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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW 

When I reported to you this time last year the Company faced a number of significant challenges in 
respect of its Lorena Gold Project near Cloncurry in northwest Queensland. This year I am pleased to 
report that the Company has resolved the dispute at Lorena with its JV partners. As part of these 
arrangements the Company retains a 2% Net Smelter Return on gold produced from future 
underground operations at Lorena and 100% of EPM 18908, which holds the Bloodwood copper/gold 
and Lady Mary gold prospects.  

I am also pleased to report that the Company has entered into a formal Share Purchase Agreement 
to acquire an 80% interest in the Jejevo Nickel Project on Santa Isabel Island in the Solomon Islands 
and signed a Term Sheet to acquire an 80% interest in the Kolosori Nickel Project which is also 
located on Santa Isabel Island.  The purchase of the Jejevo Nickel Project was approved by 
shareholders at a general meeting of the Company held on 14 October 2020. 

In addition, over the past 12 months, the Board has in effect achieved a complete recapitalisation of 
the Company and restructuring of the Company’s balance sheet. This was achieved by the conversion 
of outstanding liabilities and Convertible Notes into shares and a 100 into 1 consolidation of capital. 
These arrangements were also approved by shareholders at a general meeting held on 16 April 2020. 

The financial position of the Company has also been significantly enhanced by a Placement which 
was undertaken in August 2020 raising $625,000 and a Share Purchase Plan which was concluded in 
early September 2020 which raised $611,000. The Board appreciates the support of Bridge Street 
Capital Partners in respect of the Placement and most importantly the ongoing support of 
shareholders who participated in the Share Purchase Plan.  

I am also very pleased to welcome Mr. Robert Thomson to the Board as a new independent, non-
executive Director. Rob is a Mining Engineer with extensive experience (gold and base metals) in site 
operations, the development of exploration projects into sustainable mining operations and 
businesses in Asia, Africa and Australia. Rob was appointed to the Board on 3 September 2020. 

The Company announced on 12 October 2020 that drilling was due to commence at the Company’s 
Jejevo Nickel Project with a 64-hole program designed to enhance the geological understanding of 
Jejevo and provide confirmatory results to allow preparation of a JORC resource estimate.  This is the 
first step in the development of a nickel direct ship ore project, which can be fast tracked due to the 
significant amount of historical work that has already been completed. 

The Board appreciates the continued patience and ongoing support of shareholders which has been 
invaluable to the Company over the last few years.   

I would again like to express my appreciation for the continued dedication of Malachite’s Board, 
management and staff who have worked tirelessly on behalf of the Company to achieve the positive 
outcomes that I have referred to above.  

Terry Cuthbertson 
Chairman 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

LORENA 
 
Lorena Gold Project – (ML7147, MLs 90192 to 90196, EPM 18189, EPM18908) 

The Lorena Project is a joint venture between Volga Elderberry Pty Ltd (“Volga”), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Malachite Resources Limited, Cloncurry Gold Recovery Management Pty Ltd as manager 
for and on behalf of the Cloncurry Gold Recovery Joint Venture (“CGR”) and Ore Processing Services 
Pty Ltd (“OPS”).  The joint venture interests in the Project were Volga 55%, CGR 30% and OPS 15% for 
the open cut operation.  

In December 2018, Chinova Resources Pty Ltd (Chinova) withdrew a working capital financing facility, 
which they had previously extended to joint venture participants to fund ongoing operations.  Since 
then Volga initiated a Dispute Resolution process in accordance with the terms of the Joint Venture 
Deed dealing with numerous matters, which principally relate to achieving a reconciliation of 
historical expenditure of the joint venture, the contribution obligations of each parties to the joint 
venture (including cash calls made by the Manager to the joint venturers) and the future conduct of 
the joint venture.   

On 28 July 2020, the Company announced to the ASX that it had entered into a Deed of Release to 
resolve the long running dispute in respect of the Lorena Project on commercial terms satisfactory to 
the Company. 

Key elements of the dispute resolution agreement included: 
 
• The Company entered into a Share Sale Agreement (Agreement) with Lorena Gold Mine Pty 

Ltd and Ore Processing Services Pty Ltd (OPS).  Under the Agreement Lorena Gold Mine Pty Ltd 
will acquire 100% of the issued capital of Volga Elderberry Pty Ltd (Volga).  The Deed of 
Release is conditional on the Share Sale Agreement completing; 

• The Company has received an initial payment of $50,000 and will receive a further $130,000 
subject to agreed adjustments; 

• Conditions precedent include the Company entering into an agreement to receive a 2% Net 
Smelter Return on gold produced from future underground operations at Lorena; and 

• The Company also entered into a Deed of Debt Forgiveness with Ore Processing Services Pty 
Ltd pursuant to which outstanding loan liabilities to OPS in the amount of $637,342.47  have 
been forgiven.  
 

At a General Meeting held on 14 October 2020, Malachite shareholders approved the sale of Volga. 

The Company retains 100% of EPM 18908 which holds the Bloodwood copper/gold and Lady Mary 
gold prospects where encouraging exploration was previously undertaken by the Company.  The 
Company is now able to focus on this tenement given an agreement has been entered to resolve the 
broader Lorena dispute. 

The Company did not receive any revenue from gold sales or any distributions from the Lorena 
Project during the period.  The Company understands that the proceeds from the sales from any gold 
produced from the Lorena Project were applied to the funding of operating costs, capital costs and 
servicing of working capital loans. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

SOLOMON ISLANDS NICKEL 
 
Jejevo Nickel Project 
 
In December 2019, the Company executed a subscription agreement to acquire up to 15% of 
Sunshine Minerals Limited (“Sunshine”), a private company incorporated in the Solomon Islands.  
Sunshine owns 80% of Sunshine Nickel which holds PL 01/18 containing the Jejevo Nickel Project 
located on the south coast of Santa Isabel Island.  The remaining 20% of Sunshine Nickel is owned by 
local landowners.   

Under the terms of the subscription agreement, the Company had the right to earn its 15% equity 
interest in Sunshine in two tranches; the first tranche is a 7.5% equity interest by spending 
A$100,000 on the project and the second tranche a further 7.5% equity interest by spending an 
additional A$125,000 on the project. 

During the year the Company met its total expenditure commitments and earned its 15% equity 
interest in Sunshine. 

The Jejevo Nickel Project is an advanced stage direct shipping ore nickel laterite project with 
excellent potential for development. The project was previously drilled in 2013 and the initial 
objective of the Company is to do sufficient work to confirm a 2012 JORC Resource at the earliest 
opportunity. 

The Jejevo Nickel Project has a number of positive aspects including its close proximity to the coast, 
no processing requirements, low capital route to direct shipping ore production and local landowner 
support. It is envisaged that mining of the project could potentially commence within 2 years. 

On 15 July 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had executed a Term Sheet to acquire 
the remaining 85% interest in Sunshine Minerals Limited that it did not already own.  On 21 August 
2020, the Company advised that it had executed a Share Purchase Agreement (Agreement) 
formalising this acquisition. 
 
The key terms of the Agreement include:  
  

• An initial payment of $850,000 to the remaining 85% shareholders in Sunshine by the issue of 
up to 10,617,954 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.08 
(Upfront Consideration Shares); 

• A further payment of $1,105,000 to the remaining 85% shareholders in Sunshine by the issue 
of up to 13,803,340 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issued price of 
$0.08 (Deferred Consideration Shares) (less any clawback or reduction for adjustments) upon 
the valid application for a mining lease for PL 01-18 being submitted to the Mines 
Department ; and 

• All shares issued to the vendors are subject to voluntary escrow arrangements.  
 
The Agreement is subject to conditions precedent, including: 
 

• Sunshine entering into an agreement with Sunshine Nickel Limited (SNL) and the 
Landholders, on terms satisfactory to the Company, for the provision of funding by the 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Company to the Landholders (to be repaid from SNL’s cash flows and sale proceeds) for their 
portion of  exploration and development costs relating to the Jejevo Nickel Project; and 

• the shareholders of the Company approving the transactions contemplated by the
Agreement in a general meeting, including a resolution authorising the allotment and issue
of the Upfront Consideration Shares and Deferred Consideration Shares to the Vendors in
accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act.   The shareholders of the
Company approved the transaction at a General Meeting held on 14 October 2020

The Agreement is subject to standard warranties and representations for transactions of this nature. 

As announced on 12 October 2020, drilling at Jejevo is expected to commence by the end of October 
2020 with an initial 64-hole drill program for approximately 1,300m of drilling. The program will 
consist of 25 holes for confirmatory (twin) purposes (395m), 15 holes for infill (306m) and 24 holes 
for exploration (600m). The confirmatory and infill holes will be completed first to allow Mining One 
to prepare a 2012 JORC compliant resource estimate whilst exploration drilling will seek to identify 
areas for possible extensions to the Jejevo deposit . There are also targets for future 
exploration programs that exist on ridges to the east and west of the currently defined Jejevo 
deposit (Figure 1). 

Figure 1 - Jejevo Regional Targets 

Historical drilling by Sumitomo Metals and Mining for the Jejevo area comprised 413 individual drill 
holes drilled down to a 50m x 50m spaced grid in places. The drilling methods used included diamond 
coring and hand auger with the majority of these holes (338) being diamond core drilled between 
2012 and 2013.  

Examples of the nickel grades encountered within downhole drillhole intervals in the historical 
Sumitomo drilling programs are listed in Table 1 below.  These holes have been selected to 
demonstrate several significant results as distributed across the deposit, the location of these 
holes are also shown in Figure 2 below. 

Malachite Resources Limited 2020 Annual Report 4



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Table 1 – Jejevo Historical Drilling Example Significant Intercepts 
 

The current drill program will utilise drilling rigs that were previously used on the tenement by 
Sumitomo Metals and Mining.  
 
 

 
Figure 2 – Jejevo – Historical Drilling Assay Results (Ni%) 

 

Malachite Resources Limited confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially 
affects the information included in the Company ASX Announcement “Drilling to Commence at Solomon 
Islands Nickel Project” dated 12 October 2020. 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Hole ID Intercept From (m) Including From (m) 
JS-K003 7m @ 1.91% Ni 1 Includes 4m @ 2.21% Ni 5 
JSR049 9m @ 1.98% Ni 1 Includes 7m @ 2.21% Ni 3 
JSK047 5m @ 1.56% Ni 1 Includes 2m @ 2.27% Ni 4 
JST041 5m @ 1.90% Ni 1 Includes 2m @ 2.53% Ni 3 
JSJ057 10m @ 1.82% Ni 1 includes 7m @ 2.12% Ni 4 
JSA024 8m @ 1.74% Ni 1 includes 5m @ 2.11% Ni 5 
JSC029 11m @ 1.66% Ni 1 includes 4m @ 2.16% Ni 4 
JSD062 12m @ 1.93% Ni 1 includes 9m @ 2.04% Ni 3 
JSD049 9m @ 1.98% Ni 1 includes 6m @ 2.26% Ni 2 
JSC030 13m @ 2.04% Ni 0 includes 11m @ 2.18% Ni 2 
JSD026 10m @ 1.78% Ni 1 includes 3m @ 2.22% Ni 2 
JS-D016 9m @ 2.10% Ni 2 includes 6m @ 2.45% Ni 3 
JSD031 7m @ 1.67% Ni 2 includes 2m @ 2.35% Ni 5 
JSA006 6m @ 1.86% Ni 2 includes 3m @ 2.18% Ni 3 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

 
 
 
Kolosori Nickel Project 
 

On 1 September 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had signed a Term Sheet to acquire 
an 80% interest in Kolosori Nickel (SI) Limited (KNL).  KNL holds PL 05/19, which holds the main part 
of the Kolosori Nickel Project that is also on Santa Isabel Island in the Solomon Islands.  PL 05/19 is to 
the east of the Jejevo tenement.    

The resource at Kolosori is at a similar stage to that at Jejevo and the initial objective would be to 
carry out sufficient work to confirm a 2012 JORC Resource at the earliest opportunity.   The 
remaining 20% of KNL is held by local landowners. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

The key terms of the proposed acquisition of KNL are summarised below:  

• Payment of $750,000 by the issue of 9,375,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a 
deemed issue price of $0.08 (Upfront Consideration Shares); 

• Payment of $1,250,000 (less any debts not disclosed to the Company in the Term Sheet) by 
the issue of up to 15,625,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issued 
price of $0.08 upon the granting of a mining licence for PL 05-19 by the Mines Department 
and confirmation of a  resource with a minimum of 6 million tonnes @ 1.6%Ni including 3.9 
million tonnes @ 1.7% Ni to 2012 JORC (Deferred Consideration Shares);  

• The Upfront Consideration Shares and the Deferred Consideration Shares are subject to 
certain clawback or reductions for adjustments; and 

• All shares issued to the vendors are to be subject to voluntary escrow arrangements.  

Pursuant to the Term Sheet this transaction is subject to conditions precedent, including: 

• The parties entering into a formal share sale agreement; 
• The Company entering into an agreement with KNL and the Landholders, on terms 

satisfactory to Malachite, for the provision of funding by the Company to the Landholders (to 
be repaid from KNL’s cash flows and sale proceeds) for their portion of exploration and 
development costs relating to the Kolosori Nickel Project; and 

• the shareholders of the Company approving the transactions contemplated by the Term 
Sheet in a general meeting, including a resolution authorising the allotment and issue of the 
Upfront Consideration Shares and Deferred Consideration Shares to the KNL shareholders in 
accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. 

 
CORPORATE 

During the year, the Company has in effect achieved a complete recapitalisation of the Company and 
restructuring of the Company’s balance sheet.  These arrangements were approved by shareholders 
at a general meeting held on 16 April 2020. 

The resolutions passed at the general meeting related to the following: 

• The conversion of the principal of the Series A and D convertible notes into ordinary shares; 
• The issue of Series E converting notes to the value of the unpaid interest on the Series A and 

D convertible notes; 
• The conversion of unpaid director fees to 31 December 2019 into ordinary shares; 
• The conversion of half of the unpaid consulting fees to the CEO to 31 December 2019 into 

ordinary shares; 
• The issue of ordinary shares in lieu of Series A convertible note roll over fees; and 
• The consolidation of the issued capital of the Company on a 100:1 basis. 

On 3 August 2020, the Series E converting notes were converted into ordinary shares at 8c per share. 

The financial position of the Company has also been significantly enhanced by a Placement which 
was undertaken in August 2020 raising $625,000 (by the issue of 20,833,334 ordinary shares at $0.03 
per share) and a Share Purchase Plan which was concluded in early September 2020 which raised 
$611,000 (by the issue of 20,833,334 ordinary shares at $0.03 per share).   
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This financial report is for the consolidated entity consisting of Malachite Resources Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial 
report is presented in Australian currency. 

Malachite Resources Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office 
and principal place of business is: 

Malachite Resources Limited 
Level 4 
283 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
A description of the nature of the Group's operations and its principal activities is included in the review of operations in the 
directors' report. 
 
The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 30 September 2020. The Directors have the power to amend 
and reissue the financial report. 
 
Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete, and available globally at a 
minimum cost to the company. All ASX releases, financial reports and other information are available on our website: 
www.malachite.com.au. 
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Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

and Controlled Entities 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of Malachite 
Resources Limited (referred to hereafter as the Company) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

 
DIRECTORS 
 
The names and positions of the directors of the consolidated entity during the financial year and up to the date of this report, 
unless otherwise stated, are: 
 
Terry Cuthbertson 
Non-executive Chairman 
 
Mr Cuthbertson is a Chartered Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Business Degree with extensive corporate finance 
expertise, having advised several businesses and government organisations in relation to mergers, acquisitions and 
financing.   He was formerly a Partner of KPMG Corporate Finance and NSW Partner in Charge of Mergers and Acquisitions, 
where he coordinated government privatisations, mergers, divestitures and public offerings on the ASX for the New South 
Wales practice. He is the Non-executive Chairman of ASX listed MNF Group Limited, and Austpac Resources NL and non-
executive director of Mint Payments Limited.  He was previously the Chairman of ASX listed Lark Distilling Co. Ltd (resigned 
20 May 2019) and a non-executive director of Isentric Limited (resigned 31 May 2019). 
 
James Dean ACIP 
Non-executive Director 
 
Mr Dean is a Corporate Advisor and Professional Investor with over 29 years professional experience in the finance industry 
and investment in mining, construction equipment, property development, feature film and biotech. Most of his experience 
has been related to evaluating the operational and financial performance of numerous businesses and then aptly negotiating 
and matching risk profiles with investment criteria.  For more than 23 years he has held fiduciary positions with regard to 
shareholders and beneficiaries of various investment vehicles. He is extensively travelled and possesses a worldwide 
network of business collaborators. 
 
Geoff Hiller (appointed 4 October 2019) 
Director and CEO 
 
Mr Hiller is mining/civil engineer with over 25 years of mining industry experience including feasibility, financing, development 
and construction of projects. Mr Hiller holds a Bachelor of Engineering Mining (Hons) from the University of Melbourne, a 
Bachelor of Civil Engineering (Hons) from the University of Sydney and MBA from the Australian Graduate School of 
Management (University of New South Wales).  Mr Hiller is currently the Chief Executive Officer of Malachite Resources 
Limited and a Non-Executive Director of Austpac Resources NL. 
  
The directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report except for Mr Geoff Hiller who 
was appointed on 4 October 2019. 
 
 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Andrew J. Cooke LLB 
 
Mr Cooke is a lawyer with over 30 years’ experience in law, corporate finance and as a Company Secretary of listed resource 
companies.  He is responsible for corporate administration together with stock exchange and regulatory compliance. 
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Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

and Controlled Entities 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
 
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the 
financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director (while they were a director or committee member). 
 
 Board of Directors Audit Committee Remuneration 

Committee 
 Eligible to 

Attend Attended 
Eligible to 
Attend Attended 

Eligible to 
Attend Attended 

Mr T Cuthbertson 16 16 4 4 - - 
Mr J Dean 16 15 4 4 - - 
Mr G Hiller (appointed 4 October 2019) 13 13 - - - - 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
  
The following tables set out the number of securities held by directors in the Company as at 30 June 2020. 
 
 Ordinary Shares 
 Direct Indirect 
Mr T Cuthbertson -  7,651,151 
Mr J Dean - 8,531,538 
Mr G Hiller (appointed 4 October 2019) - 2,655,416 
 
 Series E Converting 

Notes 
Face value  

 
 Direct Indirect $ 
Mr T Cuthbertson -  2,966 296,600 
Mr J Dean -  1,129 112,900 
Mr G Hiller (appointed 4 October 2019) - 344 34,400 
 
 
The following table sets out the number of securities held by directors in the Company at the reporting date, which reflects 
shares issued from the conversion of Series E notes and from participation in the Company’s Share Purchase Plan after the 
end of the financial year. 
 
 
 Ordinary Shares 
 Direct Indirect 
Mr T Cuthbertson -  12,409,489 
Mr J Dean - 9,819,786 
Mr G Hiller (appointed 4 October 2019) - 4,091,166 
Mr R Thomson (appointed 3 September 2020) - - 
 
All Series E converting notes held by the directors in the Company were converted into shares in August 2020. 
 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the financial year was the operation, development and exploration of 
mineral deposits. 
 
No significant changes in the nature of the principal activities occurred during the financial year. 
 
OPERATING RESULTS 
 
The loss of the Group for the financial year after providing for income tax amounted to $5,303,447 (2019: $6,456,735). 
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Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

and Controlled Entities 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year. The directors do not recommend the payment 
of a dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 
 
REVIEW OF RESULTS AND OPERATIONS  
 
During the Period the Group’s main business activity has been focused on an investment in Sunshine Minerals Limited and 
the Lorena Gold Project (“Lorena Project”). 

LORENA 
 
Lorena Gold Project – (ML7147, MLs 90192 to 90196, EPM 18189, EPM18908) 

The Lorena Project is a joint venture between Volga Elderberry Pty Ltd (“Volga”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Malachite 
Resources Ltd, Cloncurry Gold Recovery Management Pty Ltd as manager for and on behalf of the Cloncurry Gold Recovery 
Joint Venture (“CGR”) and Ore Processing Services Pty Ltd (“OPS”).  The joint venture interests in the Project are Volga 55%, 
CGR 30% and OPS 15% for the open cut operation.  

In December 2018, Chinova Resources Pty Ltd (Chinova) withdrew a working capital financing facility, which they had 
previously extended to joint venture participants to fund ongoing operations.  Since then Volga has initiated a Dispute 
Resolution process in accordance with the terms of the Joint Venture Deed dealing with numerous matters, which principally 
relate to achieving a reconciliation of historical expenditure of the joint venture, the contribution obligations of each parties to 
the joint venture (including cash calls made by the Manager to the joint venturers) and the future conduct of the joint venture.   

Chinova has provided loan funds to the joint venture on Volga’s behalf on the basis that the loan balance is to be repaid, as a 
priority, from Volga’s share of funds that would normally be remitted to Volga from the sale of gold produce by the Lorena 
Gold Project. Volga has been unable to confirm its financial position in relation to the loan, as it relates to historical joint 
venture expenditure. 

During the Period, the operational performance at the Lorena Project was well below the Lorena joint venturer’s expectations. 

The Company did not receive any revenue from gold sales or any distributions from the Lorena Project during the period.  
The Company understands that the proceeds from the sales from any gold produced from the Lorena Project were applied to 
the funding of operating costs, capital costs and servicing of working capital loans. 

During the Period the Company was in discussions with the joint venture partners to resolve the dispute which includes the 
renegotiation of the Lorena joint venture terms.   On 28 July 2020, the Company announced to the ASX that it had entered 
into a Deed of Release to resolve the long running dispute in respect of the Lorena Project on commercial terms satisfactory 
to the Company. 

SOLOMON ISLANDS NICKEL 
 
Jejevo Nickel Project 
 
In December 2019, the Company executed a subscription agreement to acquire up to 15% of Sunshine Minerals Limited 
(“Sunshine”), a private company incorporated in the Solomon Islands.  Sunshine owns 80% of Sunshine Nickel which holds 
PL 01/18 containing the Jejevo Nickel Project located on the south coast of Santa Isabel Island.  The remaining 20% of 
Sunshine Nickel is owned by local land owners.   

Under the terms of the subscription agreement, the Company had the right to earn a 15% equity interest in Sunshine in two 
tranches; the first tranche is a 7.5% equity interest by spending A$100,000 on the project and the second tranche a further 
7.5% equity interest by spending an additional A$125,000 on the project. 

During the Period the Company met its total expenditure commitments and earned a 15% equity interest in Sunshine. 

The Jejevo Nickel Project is an advanced stage direct shipping ore nickel laterite project with excellent potential for 
development. The project was previously drilled in 2013 and the initial objective of the Company is to do sufficient work to 
confirm a 2012 JORC Resource at the earliest opportunity. 
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Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

and Controlled Entities 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

REVIEW OF RESULTS AND OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)  
 
The Jejevo Nickel Project has a number of positive aspects including its close proximity to the coast, no processing 
requirements, low capital route to direct shipping ore production and local landowner support. It is envisaged that mining of 
the project could potentially commence within 2 years. 

On 15 July 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had signed a Term Sheet to acquire the remaining 85% interest 
in Sunshine Mineral Limited that it does not already own. 

Kolosori Nickel Project 
 

In February 2020, the Company entered into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with Kolosori Nickel (SI) Limited (KNL).  
KNL holds PL 05/19, which holds the main part of the Kolosori Nickel Project that is also on Santa Isabel Island in the 
Solomon Islands.  PL 05/19 is to the east of the Jejevo tenement.   Under the MOU, Malachite has exclusivity to carry out 
due diligence and consider a transaction with KNL.   

The resource at Kolosori is at a similar stage to that at Jejevo and the initial objective would be to carry out sufficient work to 
confirm a 2012 JORC Resource at the earliest opportunity.   The remaining 20% of KNL is held by local landowners. 

On 1 September 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had signed a Term Sheet to acquire an 80% interest in 
KNL.  
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Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

and Controlled Entities 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

CORPORATE 
 
On 16 April 2020 the Company held a general meeting of shareholders. All of the resolutions set out in the Notice of Meeting 
were passed. 

The resolutions passed related to the following: 

• The conversion of the principal of the Series A and D convertible notes into ordinary shares; 
• The issue of Series E converting notes to the value of the unpaid interest on the Series A and D convertible notes; 
• The conversion of unpaid director fees to 31 December 2019 into ordinary shares; 
• The conversion of half of the unpaid consulting fees to the CEO to 31 December 2019 into ordinary shares; 
• The issue of ordinary shares in lieu of Series A convertible note roll over fees; and 
• The consolidation of the issued capital of the Company on a 100:1 basis. 

As a result of the above the Company has 68,022,604 shares and 12,158 Series E Converting Notes on issue as at 30 June 
2020. 

 The key terms of the Series E Converting Notes are as follows: 

• issue price of $100 each; 
• maturity date of 31 March 2021; 
• interest rate of 4% per annum payable in shares; and 
• upon maturity or at the election of the noteholder prior to maturity, the conversion of the notes into shares at a share 

price of the higher of the 30-day VWAP prior to the conversion date or $0.035 each. 

Subsequent to the year end all the Series E converting notes were converted into ordinary shares. 
 
 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
 
During the 2020 financial year the consolidated net loss of $5.303 million (2019: loss of $6.457 million) reflected: 

• Impairment of the Lorena Gold Project of $4.25 million based on poor performance to date from the open cut 
operations, the ongoing dispute with joint venture parties and uncertainty relating to the amount that may be 
recoverable from the project as a whole; 

• Expenses of $0.290 million for corporate administration; and 
• Expenses of $0.588 million for interest on convertible notes. 

FINANCIAL POSITION 

Total equity increased from $0.603 million as at 30 June 2019 to $0.689 million as at 30 June 2020 as a result of a net loss of 
$5.303 million and a net increase in contributed equity of $5.390 million. 

The write down of the Lorena Project was a result of gold production from the open cut being materially lower than forecast 
as noted in the review of operations above. 

At 30 June 2020, the Group had liabilities in respect of Series E Converting Notes with a total value of $1.228 million 
comprising a face value of $1.216 million and accrued interest of $0.012 million, an unsecured loan held by OPS of $0.635 
million, and unsecured loans held mainly by Key Management Personnel (KMP) of $0.145 million. 

CASH FLOWS 

Cash flows from operating activities was negative $0.517 million (2019: negative $1.460 million).  During the Period the 
Group: 

• Made an investment in Sunshine Minerals of $0.202 million; and 
• Received Net Proceeds from unsecured loans of $0.0440 million. 

Cash at 30 June 2020 was $0.028 million (2019: $0.696 million). 
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Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

IMPACT OF COVID 19 

The Company has considered the impact of COVID-19 on its activities.  The inability of management and consultants to visit 
the Solomon Islands and Queensland has impacted on some of the Company’s activities.  

Sunshine Minerals has local staff who have successfully been able to carry out the Company’s required activities in the 
Solomon Islands since the COVID 19 pandemic.  

Given the restrictions on travel internationally and mindful of the spread of the virus within the local communities, the 
Company will consider field activities where prudent.  

GOING CONCERN  

The Group experienced operating losses of $5.303 million and negative cash flows from operations of $0.517 million during 
the period ended 30 June 2020. 

At 30 June 2020, the Group has current liabilities amounting to $2.636 million (30 June 2019: $7.409 million), comprising 
Series E Converting Notes with a total value of $1.228 million (including accrued interest of $0.012 million), an unsecured 
loan from OPS of $0.5 million and unsecured loans of $0.145 million mainly from Key Management Personnel. 

The Group’s cash position at balance date was $0.028 million, which will not be sufficient to fund the Group’s forecast cash 
outflows from operations for the period to 30 September 2021.  

The Group currently relies on its investment in Sunshine Minerals and resolving the Lorena Gold Project dispute for its 
continuing viability and for its ability to continue as a going concern and to meet its debts and commitments. 

As a result of these matters, there is a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
whether the Group will continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its assets and settle its liabilities and 
commitments in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 

The continuing viability of the Group and its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and commitments as 
and when they fall due are dependent upon the Group being successful with some or all of the following: 

• the continued investment in Sunshine Minerals (subsequent to the Period the Company formalised an agreement to 
acquire the remaining 85% of Sunshine Minerals it did not already own); 

• achieving a positive outcome in respect of the dispute with the Lorena joint venture partners relating to the Lorena 
Gold Project (subsequent to the Period, the Company entered into a Deed of Release to resolve the dispute); 

• raising equity or debt through the capital markets (subsequent to the Period the Company reached an agreement 
with the Series E Noteholders to convert their notes into shares, carried out a share placement, and completed a 
share purchase plan); 

• the possibility of successfully sourcing an alternative project in which the Group might participate (subsequent to the 
Period the Company entered into a Terms Sheet to acquire 80% of KNL); or 

• entering into a corporate transaction. 

The Group has a successful track record over many years of raising new capital from both existing shareholders and 
strategic investors.   

On that basis the directors believe it is reasonable to expect that the Group will be successful in some of the above matters 
and, accordingly, have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis. 

At this time, the directors are of the opinion that no asset is likely to be realised for an amount less than the amount at which 
it is recorded in the financial report at 30 June 2020. Accordingly, no adjustments have been made to the financial report 
relating to the recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that 
might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED) 

The financial report for the year ended at 30 June 2020 contains an independent auditor’s report which includes an emphasis 
of matter paragraph in regard to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year except for a share 
consolidation on a 100:1 basis effective 1 May 2020. 

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS 

Acquisition of Sunshine Minerals Limited 
 
On 15 July 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had executed a Term Sheet to acquire the remaining 85% 
interest in Sunshine Minerals Limited that it does not already own.  On 21 August 2020, the Company advised that it had 
executed a Share Purchase Agreement (Agreement) formalising the acquisition. 
 
The key terms of the Agreement include:  
  

• An initial payment of $850,000 to the remaining 85% shareholders in Sunshine by the issue of up to 10,617,954 fully 
paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.08 (Upfront Consideration Shares); 

• A further payment of $1,105,000 to the remaining 85% shareholders in Sunshine by the issue of up to 13,803,340 
fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issued price of $0.08 (Deferred Consideration Shares) (less 
any clawback or reduction for adjustments) upon the valid application for a mining lease for PL 01-18 being 
submitted to the Mines Department ; and 

• All shares issued to the vendors are subject to voluntary escrow arrangements.  
 
The Agreement is subject to conditions precedent, including: 
 

• Sunshine entering into an agreement with Sunshine Nickel Limited (SNL) and the Landholders, on terms 
satisfactory to the Company, for the provision of funding by the Company to the Landholders (to be repaid from 
SNL’s cash flows and sale proceeds) for their portion of  exploration and development costs relating to the Jejevo 
Nickel Project; and 

• the shareholders of the Company approving the transactions contemplated by the Agreement in a general meeting, 
including a resolution authorising the allotment and issue of the Upfront Consideration Shares and Deferred 
Consideration Shares to the Vendors in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. 

 
The Agreement is subject to standard warranties and representations for transactions of this nature. 
 

Acquisition of Kolosori Nickel (SI) Limited 

On 1 September 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had signed a Term Sheet to acquire an 80% interest in 
Kolosori Nickel (SI) Limited (KNL).  

The key terms of the proposed acquisition of KNL are summarised below:  

• Payment of $750,000 by the issue of 9,375,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issue price 
of $0.08 (Upfront Consideration Shares); 

• Payment of $1,250,000 (less any debts not disclosed to the Company in the Term Sheet) by the issue of up to 
15,625,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issued price of $0.08 upon the granting of a 
mining licence for PL 05-19 by the Mines Department and confirmation of a  resource with a minimum of 6 million 
tonnes @ 1.6%Ni including 3.9 million tonnes @ 1.7% Ni to 2012 JORC (Deferred Consideration Shares);  

• The Upfront Consideration Shares and the Deferred Consideration Shares are subject to certain clawback or 
reductions for adjustments; and 

• All shares issued to the vendors to be subject to voluntary escrow arrangements.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS (CONTINUED) 

The Agreement is subject to conditions precedent, including: 

• The parties entering into a formal share sale agreement; 
• The Company entering into an agreement with KNL and the Landholders, on terms satisfactory to Malachite, for the 

provision of funding by the Company to the Landholders (to be repaid from KNL’s cash flows and sale proceeds) for 
their portion of exploration and development costs relating to the Kolosori Nickel Project; and 

• the shareholders of the Company approving the transactions contemplated by the Term Sheet in a general meeting, 
including a resolution authorising the allotment and issue of the Upfront Consideration Shares and Deferred 
Consideration Shares to the KNL shareholders in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. 

 
Lorena Dispute Resolution 

On 28 July 2020, the Company announced to the ASX that it had entered into a Deed of Release to resolve the long running 
dispute in respect of the Lorena Project on commercial terms satisfactory to the Company. 

Key elements of the dispute resolution agreement include: 
 

• The Company has entered into a Share Sale Agreement (Agreement) with Lorena Gold Mine Pty Ltd and Ore 
Processing Services Pty Ltd (OPS).  Under the Agreement Lorena Gold Mine Pty Ltd will acquire 100% of the 
issued capital of Volga Elderberry Pty Ltd (Volga).  The Deed of Release is conditional on the Share Sale 
Agreement completing; 

• The Company has received an initial payment of $50,000 and will receive a further $130,000 within 90 days subject 
to agreed adjustments; 

• Conditions precedent include the Company entering into an agreement to receive a 2% Net Smelter Return on gold 
produced from future underground operations at Lorena; 

• The Lorena joint venture parties have entered into a Deed of Release in respect of obligations and liabilities arising 
out of the Lorena Gold Project; and 

• The Company has also entered into a Deed of Debt Forgiveness with Ore Processing Services Pty Ltd pursuant to 
which outstanding loan liabilities to OPS have been forgiven. The loan amount that was forgiven by OPS is 
$637,342.47 at the time the Deed of Debt Forgiveness was entered. 

 
The Company will seek shareholder and any necessary regulatory approvals for the proposed sale of Volga. 
 
The Company will retain 100% of EPM 18908 which holds the Bloodwood copper/gold and Lady Mary gold prospects where 
encouraging exploration was previously undertaken by the Company.  The Company is now able to focus on this tenement 
given an agreement has been entered to resolve the dispute. 
 

Conversion of Series E converting notes 

On 3 August 2020, the Company announced the conversion of all Series E Converting Notes (principal and interest) into 
ordinary shares.  The Company issued 15,400,703 shares at $0.08 per share upon the conversion. 

Capital Raising 

On 17 August 2020, the Company completed a share placement raising $625,000 by the issue of 20,833,334 ordinary shares 
at $0.03 per share. 

In August 2020, the Company carried out a Share Purchase Plan (SPP) for existing shareholders at $0.03 per share. The 
SPP raised $611,000 and 20,366,659 shares were allotted on 7 September 2020. 

Appointment of Director 

On 3 September 2020, the Company confirmed the appointment of Mr. Robert Thomson as an independent non-executive 
Director of the Company. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS (CONTINUED) 

Mr Thomson is a Mining Engineer with extensive experience (gold and base metals) in site operations, the development of 
exploration projects into sustainable mining operations and businesses in Asia, Africa and Australia. 
 
 
Mr Thomson has previously been closely involved in various capacities such as CEO/Executive Director and Site General 
Manager/Project Director in various companies advancing exploration projects through various stages including feasibility 
works, government approvals, financing, development, construction of infrastructure and processing plants, commissioning 
and sustainable operations. These include:  

• Finder’s Wetar Island 25,000 tpa copper cathode project in Indonesia; 
• Kingsgate’s 125,000+ ozpa  Chatree Stage 1 open-cut gold mine in Thailand;  
• Oxiana’s 125,000+ ozpa  Sepon Stage 1 open-cut CIL gold mine in Laos; and  
• Climax Mining’s Didipio 150,000+ oz (gold equivalent) gold/copper project in the Philippines which was successfully 

merged into Oceana Gold.  

 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years.  

 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 

The Group’s main focus is progressing the nickel opportunities in the Solomon Islands and reviewing its exploration 
properties in Queensland. 

The Company will also progress other possible opportunities in the exploration / mining sector.    

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS 

The Group’s activities in the mining industry are subject to regulations and approvals including mining heritage, 
environmental regulation, the implications of the High Court of Australia decisions in what are generally known as the “Mabo” 
and “Wik” cases and any laws of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory regarding native and mining titles.  Approvals, 
although granted in most cases, are discretionary. The question of native title has yet to be determined in some parts of the 
Group’s interests and certain mining titles may be affected by native title. The Group does not believe the Lorena Gold 
Project mining leases are affected by native title. 

The Group has an environmental rehabilitation policy that is applied to each tenement upon grant.  The policy has been 
adhered to and no breaches have occurred during the period. 

 

SHARE OPTIONS 

The Company or its controlled entities did not issue or grant any options over unissued shares during or since the end of the 
financial year. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS 

Indemnification 

In accordance with the Constitution of Malachite Resources Limited each director and officer was indemnified on a full 
indemnity basis and to the full extent permitted by law against all losses, liabilities, costs, charges and expenses incurred by 
them as officers of Malachite Resources Limited or a related body corporate.  The consolidated entity has not indemnified or 
agreed to indemnify the auditor of the consolidated entity against any liabilities incurred as auditor. 

Insurance Policies 

Until April 2020, the consolidated entity has paid premiums in respect of directors' and executive officers' liability and legal 
expenses insurance contracts.  Such insurance contracts insure against certain liability (subject to specific exclusions) 
persons who are or have been directors or executive officers of the parent entity. 

Directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered, or the amount of the premium paid, as such 
disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the insurance contract. 

The Company is in the process of reinstating director and officer insurance. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the company with leave of the Court under section 237 of 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
b) Details of remuneration 
c) Share based compensation 
d) Additional information 
e) Other transactions of Key Management Personnel 
f) Equity instrument disclosures relating to Directors and Key Management Personnel 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

a)  Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

The Group’s policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments of board members and senior executives of the 
consolidated entity is as follows: 

The objective of the entity’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate 
for the results delivered.  The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of 
value for shareholders, and conforms with market best practice for delivery of reward.  The Board ensures that executive 
reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices: 

• Competitiveness and reasonableness 
• Acceptability to shareholders 
• Performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation 
• Transparency  
• Capital management. 

The Group has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and complimentary to the reward 
strategy of the organisation.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

Alignment to shareholders’ interests: 

• attracts and retains well qualified and suitably experienced applicants 
• has the goal of economic profit as a core component of plan design 
• focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of growth in share price, and, in the longer term, 

payment of dividends and delivering an adequate return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-
financial drivers of value. 

• attracts and retains high calibre executives. 

Alignment to program participants’ interests: 

• rewards capability and experience 
• reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth 
• provides a clear structure for earning rewards 
• provides recognition for contribution. 

The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a blend of short (STI) and long-term (LTI) incentives.  As 
executives gain seniority with the Group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of “at risk” rewards. 

Executive remuneration includes a base salary that is set with reference to the market, a short term incentive that comprises 
of an at risk bonus payable to reflect performance and a long term incentive that provides scope for equity participation over 
the longer term. 

Non-executive directors 

Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the 
directors.  Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Board has also drawn on 
external sources of information to ensure non-executive directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the 
market.     

Directors’ fees 

Non-executive directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended 
for approval by shareholders.  The maximum currently stands at $300,000 per annum and was approved by shareholders at 
the AGM on 30 November 2015. 

b)  Details of remuneration 

Cash remuneration packages are set at levels that are intended to attract and retain executives capable of managing and 
enhancing the consolidated entity’s operations.  Remuneration of individual non-executive Directors is determined by the 
Board and may be varied from time to time but always such that the aggregate (currently $129,662 per annum see table 
below) is within the maximum amount (currently $300,000 per annum) for which prior approval of the shareholders has been 
received. 

Remuneration of Directors 

Remuneration fees received in their capacity as Directors are provided in the table below.   Mr Cuthbertson and Mr Dean 
converted their fees that were accrued to 31 December 2019 into shares at $0.001 (Pre-consolidation 100:1) per share.   

2020  
Directors Directors fees 
Mr T Cuthbertson 61,101 
Mr J Dean 39,420 
Mr G Hiller (appointed 4 October 2019) 29,141 
 129,662 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

b)  Details of remuneration (Continued) 

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each of the directors and the key management 
personnel of Malachite Resources Limited during the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out below. 

2020 Salary 
 & Fees 

Accrued Salary 
 & Fees 

 
Total 

Directors   $ $ $ 

Mr T Cuthbertson  30,552 30,549 61,101 
Mr J Dean  19,709 19,711 39,420 
Mr G Hiller (appointed 4 
October 2019) - 29,141 29,141 
    
Other key management 
personnel of the group    
Mr G Hiller  70,677 100,244 170,921 
Total Key Management 
Personnel 120,938 

 
179,645 300,583 

 
  

 
 

2019 Salary 
 & Fees 

Accrued Salary 
 & Fees 

 
Total 

Directors $ $ $ 

Mr T Cuthbertson - 61,101 61,101 
Mr J Dean  - 39,420 39,420 
Mr A McMillan (resigned 11 
February 2019) - 24,286 24,286 
    
Other key management 
personnel of the group  

  

Mr G Hiller  100,816 87,986 188,802 
Total Key Management 
Personnel 100,816 

 
212,793 313,609 

 

Key management personnel are the same for the Group and the Company. 
There is no link between key management personnel remuneration and the share price or dividends. 
There is no relationship between the performance of the Group and remuneration over the past five years. 
All of the top paid executives are shown above. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

b)  Details of remuneration (Continued) 

The outstanding accrual for Directors fees is set out in the table below. 

Directors’ fee accrual 

 Opening balance Accrual/(paid)  
current year 

Converted to 
shares 

Closing balance 

 01.07.2019   30.06.2020 
Directors     
Mr T Cuthbertson  316,047 61,101 (346,599) 30,549 
Mr J Dean 204,257 39,420 (223,966) 19,711 
Mr G Hiller (appointed 4 October 2019) - 29,141 - 29,141 
Mr A McMillan (resigned 11 February 2019) 196,026 (50,000) (146,026) - 
 716,330 79,662 (716,591) 79,401 
 

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows: 

 Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 
       
Mr T Cuthbertson 100% 100% - - - - 
Mr J Dean 100% 100% - - - - 
Mr A McMillan (resigned 11 
February 2019) - 100% - - - - 

       
Other key management 
personnel of the group       

Mr G Hiller 100% 100% - - - - 
 

c)  Share based compensation 
 
Employee Option Plan 
 
The Company operates an Employees and Contractors Option Plan (“Plan”).  The Plan is administered by the Board. Only 
eligible persons (and their associates) may be invited to participate in the Plan. Eligible persons include full time employees 
of the Company, permanent part-time employees, qualifying contractors and persons who may be a director, alternate 
director or company secretary of the Company or an entity in the Group. The Plan is designed to provide long term incentives 
for executives to deliver shareholder value.  

Options are granted under the plan for no consideration. Options granted under the Plan carry no dividend or voting rights. 
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for and be allotted one ordinary fully paid share in the capital of the Company. 
The exercise price is determined by the Directors at the time of issuing an invitation to participate in the Plan.  

All options granted to Directors are approved by Shareholders. Benefits are payable (or vest) upon expiry of vesting periods. 
No options are currently issued under the Employee Option Plan. 

 
d)  Additional information 
 
The Group’s main project has just started operating and as a result, it does not yet have earnings from mining.  In view of that, 
shareholder wealth is based on the market’s view of the value of future production, the Group’s potential for future discovery 
success, and the quality and experience of its people.  This is reflected in market capitalisation, which is also influenced by 
factors outside the Group’s control, such as commodity prices and general market behaviour. 

Accordingly, remuneration policy for key management personnel is based primarily on the extent to which the corporate 
exploration and evaluation objectives are met, recognising that the timeframe for success commonly exceeds one year. 
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e)  Other transactions of Key Management Personnel 
 
Unsecured Loans 

The Group had an opening balance of $101,000 in unsecured loans and accrued interest of $11,805 from Key Management 
Personnel.  During the period, $36,000 of unsecured loans and $6,359 of accrued interest were repaid and $80,000 of 
unsecured loans acquired with 10% interest rate by the Group in cash. The Group had $145,000 in unsecured loans with 
accrued interest of $14,992 from Key Management Personnel at 30 June 2020. 

 
f)  Equity instrument disclosures relating to Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Malachite Resources Limited and 
other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below. There were no 
shares granted during the reporting period as compensation. 

 
Shares (Post-
Consolidation on 
100:1 basis)  
 

Number held    
1 July 2019 Subscribed Sold 

Shares issued 
upon 

conversion of 
Notes and in 
lieu of fees  

Number held 
 30 June 2020 

2020      
      
Mr T Cuthbertson 202,818 - - 7,448,334 7,651,152 
Mr J Dean 510,170 - - 8,021,368 8,531,538 
Mr G Hiller 234,470 - - 2,420,946 2,655,416 
 
 

AUDITORS 
 
Non-audit Services 
  
No amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year. 
 
 
Auditor’s independence declaration 
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 can be found 
on the next page. 
   

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 

 

On behalf of the Directors 

Terry Cuthbertson  

Non-Executive Chairman 

Sydney, 30 September 2020 

 

Malachite Resources Limited 2020 Annual Report 22



Sydney I Melbourne I Canberra 

MALACHITE RESOURCES LIMITED ABN 86 075 613 268 
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER S 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF MALACHITE RESOURCES LIMITED AND 
CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2020 there have 

been no contraventions of: 

i. the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to

the audit; and

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

MNSA Pty Ltd 

Mark Schiliro 

Director 

Sydney 

Dated this 30
th 

day of September 2020 

············ ........................................ ..................... '23............................................................................................... .. 

MNSA Ply Ltd 
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Liability limited by the 
Accountants SCheme. 
approved under the 
Professional Standards 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 Note   
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Revenue from continuing operations 5 8,327 19,052 
    
Accounting and audit expense  (49,541) (78,845) 
Corporate expenses  (289,792) (295,227) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (9,781) (12,096) 
Employee benefits expense  (130,319) (137,290) 
Evaluation and Exploration expenditure reversed/expensed 6 6,083 (408,768) 
Impairment of exploration assets and other receivables  (4,250,000) (4,564,818) 
Finance costs 6 (588,424) (978,743) 
Occupancy expenses  - - 
Loss before income tax expense  (5,303,447) (6,456,735) 
Income tax expense 7 - - 
Net loss for the year 19 (5,303,447) (6,456,735) 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income for the year  - - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (5,303,447) (6,456,735) 
Loss for the year is attributable to owners of the Company  (5,303,447) (6,456,735) 
Total comprehensive loss is attributable to owners of the 
Company 

   (5,303,447)  (6,456,735) 

    
    
    
Basic/diluted (loss) per share (cents per share) 28 (23.0) (46.9) 
    
 

 

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 Note   
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 8 27,998 695,947 
Trade and other receivables 9 8,920 71,819 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  36,918 767,766 
    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Receivables 11 387,759 387,259 
Property, plant and equipment  12 41,794 51,575 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 13 2,548,023 6,805,104 
Investments 14 310,062 - 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  3,287,638 7,243,938 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  3,324,556 8,011,704 
    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 15 627,229 1,301,017 
Borrowings 16 2,008,418 6,108,107 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,635,647 7,409,124 
    
TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,635,647 7,409,124 
NET ASSETS  688,909 602,580 
    
EQUITY    
Contributed equity 17 62,696,576 57,306,800 
Reserves 18 2,207,581 2,207,581 
Accumulated losses 19 (64,215,248) (58,911,801) 
TOTAL EQUITY  688,909 602,580 
 

 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

      
Consolidated Group  Contributed 

Equity 
$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

 
Reserves 

$ 
Total Equity 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2018  57,233,872 (52,455,066) 2,207,581 6,986,387 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (6,456,735) - (6,456,735) 

Shares issued during the year  75,000 - - 75,000 

Shares issue cost  (2,072) - - (2,072) 

Balance at 30 June 2019  57,306,800 (58,911,801) 2,207,581 602,580 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (5,303,447) - (5,303,447) 

Shares issued during the year  5,414,410 - - 5,414,410 

Shares issue cost  (24,634) - - (24,634) 

Balance at 30 June 2020  62,696,576 (64,215,248) 2,207,581 688,909 
 

 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 Note   
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Received from customers  131 124,196 
Payments to suppliers and employees   (312,135) (520,025) 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure   (20,319) (356,041) 
Interest received 5 8,327 16,146 
Interest paid  (192,627) (724,573) 
Net cash (used in) operating activities 27 (b) (516,623) (1,460,297) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Refund of security bonds  6,580 20,632 
Payment of Investments  (201,906) - 
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities  (195,326) 20,632 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from convertible notes  - 2,625,000 
Repayment of convertible notes  - (390,000) 
Repayment of unsecured loans  (36,000) (166,831) 
Proceeds from unsecured loans  80,000 - 
Equity raising expenses  - (4,094) 
Net cash provided by financing activities  44,000 2,064,075 
    
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD  (667,949) 624,410 
    
CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  695,947 71,537 
    
CASH AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 27 (a) 27,998 695,947 
    
 

 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements 
are for the consolidated entity consisting of Malachite Resources Limited and its subsidiaries. 

a) Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Malachite Resources 
Limited is a for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing the financial statements.  

Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of Malachite Resources Limited also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates that are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3. 

New and amended standards adopted by the Group 

None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time for the financial year 
beginning 1 July 2019 affected any of the amounts recognised in the current period or any prior period and are not likely to 
affect future periods. 

Early adoption of standards 

The Group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their operative date in the annual reporting period beginning 
1 July 2019. 

Significant Matters relating to the ongoing viability of operations 

Consistent with the nature of the Group’s activities and its ongoing investment of funds into projects the Group has 
experienced operating losses of $5.303 million and negative cash flows from operations of $0.517 million during the period 
ended 30 June 2020. 

At 30 June 2020, the Group has current liabilities amounting to $2.636 million (30 June 2019: $7.409 million), comprising 
Series E Converting Notes with a total value of $1.228 million (including accrued interest of $0.012 million), an unsecured 
loan from OPS of $0.5 million and unsecured loans of $0.145 million mainly from Key Management Personnel. 

The Group’s cash position at balance date was $0.028 million, which will not be sufficient to fund the Group’s forecast cash 
outflows from operations for the period to 30 September 2021.  

The Group currently relies on its investment in Sunshine Minerals and resolving the Lorena Gold Project dispute for its 
continuing viability and for its ability to continue as a going concern and to meet its debts and commitments. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

As a result of these matters, there is a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
whether the Group will continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its assets and settle its liabilities and 
commitments in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 

The continuing viability of the Group and its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and commitments as 
and when they fall due are dependent upon the Group being successful with some or all of the following: 

• the continued investment in Sunshine Minerals (subsequent to the Period the Company formalised an agreement to 
acquire the remaining 85% of Sunshine Minerals it does not already own); 

• achieving a positive outcome in respect of the dispute with the Lorena joint venture partners relating to the Lorena 
Gold Project (subsequent to the Period, the Company entered into a Deed of Release to resolve the dispute); 

• raising equity or debt through the capital markets (subsequent to the Period the Company reached an agreement 
with the Series E Noteholders to convert their notes into shares, carried out a share placement,  and completed a 
share purchase plan); 

• the possibility of successfully sourcing an alternative project in which the Group might participate (subsequent to the 
Period the Company entered into a Terms Sheet to acquire 80% of KNL); or 

• entering into a corporate transaction. 

The Group has a successful track record over many years of raising new capital from both existing shareholders and 
strategic investors.   

On that basis the directors believe it is reasonable to expect that the Group will be successful in some of the above matters 
and, accordingly, have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis. 

At this time, the directors are of the opinion that no asset is likely to be realised for an amount less than the amount at which 
it is recorded in the financial report at 30 June 2020. Accordingly, no adjustments have been made to the financial report 
relating to the recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that 
might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern. 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Malachite Resources Limited 
(''company'' or ''parent entity'') as at 30 June 2020 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  Malachite 
Resources Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the Group or the consolidated 
entity. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated from 
the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.  
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.  
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Malachite Resources Limited. 

b) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the cash flows statements, cash and cash equivalents includes:  
- cash on hand and at call deposits with banks or financial institutions; and 
- investments in money market instruments with less than 90 days to maturity that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

c) Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term obligations 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months 
after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees' 
services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. The liability for annual leave and all other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as other payables. 

(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations 

The liability for long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured 
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of 
the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position if the entity does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of when the 
actual settlement is expected to occur. 

 (iii) Share based compensation 

Share based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Malachite Resources Limited Employee Option Plan. 
Information relating to the plan is set out in note 29. 

The fair value of options granted under the Malachite Resources Limited Employee Option Plan is recognised as an 
employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised 
over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. 

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise 
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).  Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable.  At each balance date, the entity revises 
its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense recognised 
each period takes into account the most recent estimate.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

d) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest.  
Such expenditure comprises direct costs and depreciation and does not include general overheads or administrative 
expenditure not having a nexus with a particular area of interest.   

These costs are only carried forward where there is current or planned activity and rights of tenure, and one of the following 
conditions is met: 

- the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation 
of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale. 

- exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest at the reporting date have not reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, but, nevertheless, active and 
significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off, in full, in the year in which the decision to abandon the 
area is made or where it fails to meet the conditions outlined above for the carry-forward of these costs as an asset. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs 
in relation to that area of interest in accordance with AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources and the 
Group's impairment policy (note 1(g)).  

e) Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes. 

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-
for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance date.  The quoted market price used for financial assets 
held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price. 

f) Goods and Services Tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

g) Impairment of assets 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  Other assets are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other 
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

h) Income Tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are 
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax assets are 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset 
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity, respectively. 

Tax consolidation legislation 

Malachite Resources Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation 
legislation. 
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

h) Income Tax (Continued) 

The head entity, Malachite Resources Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own 
current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues 
to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amount, Malachite Resources Limited also recognises the current liabilities (or 
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities 
in the tax consolidated group. 

Assets and liabilities arising under tax funding agreement with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group. 

Any difference between amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are 
recognised as a contribution (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities. 

i) Trade payable 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are 
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are 
presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date. They are recognised 
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

j) Borrowings 

Loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received. Interest expense is recognised on an accruals basis. 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs 
associated with the borrowing. 

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 

Loans and borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non‑cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Convertible notes 

On issuance of the convertible notes, where the conversion is a fixed number of shares for a fixed value there is an equity 
component, otherwise the whole instrument is a financial liability.  

When it is determined that the whole instrument is a financial liability and no equity instrument is identified, the conversion 
option is separated from the host debt and classified as a derivative liability.  The carrying value of the host contract, at initial 
recognition is determined as the difference between the consideration received and the fair value of the embedded 
derivative.  The host contract is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.   The 
embedded derivative is subsequently measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period through the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.  The convertible note and the derivative are presented as a single number on the 
consolidated statement of financial position within interest-bearing loans and borrowings.  
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

j) Borrowings (continued) 

When it is determined that the instrument contains an equity component based on the terms of the contract, on issuance of 
the convertible notes, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-
convertible bond. This amount is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it 
is extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is 
recognised and included in equity.  Transaction costs are deducted from equity, net of associated income tax. The carrying 
amount of the conversion option is not re-measured in subsequent years. 

k) Investments and other financial assets 

Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans 
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments 
were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets 
classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading which are acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling in the short term with the intention of making a profit. Assets in this category are classified as 
current assets if they are expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise they are classified as non‑current. 

(ii) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of 
selling the receivable. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after 
the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the 
consolidated statement of financial position (notes 9 and 11). 

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the end of the reporting period. 
Investments are designed as available-for-sale if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments 
and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term. 

l) Leases 

Except for short term leases and leases of low value assets, the Group applies a single recognition and measurement 
approach for all leases representing the right to use the underlying asset Right-of-Use recognised at the commencement 
date of the lease and corresponding lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments over the lease term are 
recognised in the statement of financial position. Depreciation charges of Right-of-Use assets, and interest expenses on the 
lease liability replaces straight line operating expenses. 
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

m) Loss per share 

(i) Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing: 

- the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares. 

- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in 
ordinary shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted loss per share 

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take into account: 

- the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares; and 

- the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

n) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.   

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated on a diminishing value basis so as to write off the 
net cost of each asset over its expected useful life. The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of 
depreciation: 

  Motor Vehicles  5-6 years 

  Plant and equipment  4-8 years 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1g). 

o) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

p) Revenue Recognition 

(i) Interest income 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the interest rates applicable to financial assets. 

(ii) Other income 

Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

(iii) Dividends  

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established. 

q) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for 
doubtful debts. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. They are presented as current assets 
unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months after the reporting date. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off 
by reducing the carrying amount directly. An allowance account (provision for impairment of trade receivables) is used when 
there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-
term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. When a trade receivable for which an 
impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or 
loss. 

r) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors. 

s) Parent entity financial information 

The financial information for the parent entity, Malachite Resources Limited, disclosed in note 30 has been prepared on the 
same basis as the consolidated financial statements. 
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

t) Interests in Joint Arrangements 

The Group is in a joint venture for the Lorena Gold Project Joint Venture (LGPJV) and funding arrangement with Cloncurry 
Gold Recovery Management Pty Ltd (CGR) and Ore Processing Services Pty Ltd (OPS) for the Lorena Gold Project. CGR is 
the manager of a joint venture between Chinova Resources Tennant Creek Pty Ltd (Chinova) (70%) and BIM Gold Pty Ltd 
(BIM) (30%).  

Joint operations represent arrangements whereby joint operators maintain direct interests in each asset and exposure to 
each liability of the arrangement. The Group’s interests in the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint operations are 
included in the respective line items of the consolidated financial statements. The information for the joint operations is 
disclosed in note 10. 

The consolidated entity has a 55% interest in unincorporated joint operations of the Lorena Gold Project Joint Venture at 30 
June 2020. 

The key terms of the joint venture are: 

• the joint venture interests in the Project are Volga 55%, CGR 30% and OPS 15% for the open cut operation; 
and 

• Volga retains a 70% interest in any additional resources not within the open cut operation and within the Lorena 
Gold Project mining leases. 

Gains and losses resulting from sales to a joint operation are recognised to the extent of the other parties’ interests. When 
the Group makes purchases from a joint operation, it does not recognise its share of the gains and losses from the joint 
arrangement until it resells those goods/assets to a third party. 

The Group has initiated a Dispute Resolution process in accordance with the terms of the Joint Venture Deed dealing with 
numerous matters, which principally relate to achieving a reconciliation of historical expenditure of the joint venture, the 
contribution obligations of each parties to the joint venture (including cash calls made by the Manager to the joint venturers) 
and the future conduct of the joint venture.  Volga has been unable to confirm its financial position in relation to the joint 
venture and any past or future cash calls. 

During the Period the Company was in discussions with the joint venture partners to resolve the dispute which includes the 
renegotiation of the Lorena joint venture terms.   On 28 July 2020, the Company announced to the ASX that it had entered 
into a Deed of Release to resolve the long running dispute in respect of the Lorena Project on commercial terms satisfactory 
to the Company. 

u) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in first out basis. Cost comprises direct materials 
and the cost of mining and stockpiling the gold from the joint operations. Cost is determined on an average cost basis.  

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

v) New accounting standards and interpretations 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2020 
reporting periods and have not yet been applied in the Financial Statements.  The Company's assessment of the impact of 
these new standards and interpretations is set out below. 

The Company has adopted AASB 16: Leases from 1 July 2019 (applicable to annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2019).  This Standard:  

- replaces AASB 117 Leases and some lease-related Interpretations; 

- requires all leases to be accounted for ‘on-balance sheet’ by lessees, other than short-term and low value asset leases; and 

- requires new and different disclosures about leases. 

This Standard requires retrospective restatement, as well as new and different disclosures.  There is no impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and are expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current 
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the financial performance of the Group. Risk management is carried out by the Board and the financial risks faced by the 
Group other than liquidity risk are considered minimal at this stage. 

Cash is held at one of the big four banks in Australia that is exposed to variable rates. This is managed through holding the 
cash in a high interest bearing account and is transferred to ordinary account as required. 

The Group holds the following financial instruments: 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   27,998 695,947 
Trade and other receivables   8,920 71,819 
  36,918 767,766 
    
Financial liabilities    
Trade and other payables   627,229 1,301,017 
Borrowings   2,008,418 6,108,107 
  2,635,647 7,409,124 
 

a) Market risk 

(i) Interest rate risk 

The Group’s and Parent’s main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks. 

Sensitivity 

At 30 June 2020, if interest rates had changed by lower/higher 100 base points from the year-end rates with other variables 
held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been $280 lower/higher (2019: change of 100 bps: $6,959 lower/higher), 
as a result of lower/higher interest income from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks. 

(ii) Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Group operates domestically and is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk. 

(iii) Price Risk 

The Group is not exposed to equity securities price risk. The Group is indirectly exposed to commodity price rise to the extent 
of its operations which are undertaken in the mineral sector. 

b) Credit Risk 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures in respect of 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets. 
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

c) Liquidity Risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring actual cash flows and maintaining sufficient cash to fund operations. Surplus 
funds are generally only invested in short term deposits with Australian Banks. 

The Group’s position with respect to going concern is outlined in note 1 (a). 

Maturities of financial liabilities 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. 

Consolidated  Less than 
6 Months 

6-12 
Months 

Between 
1 and 2 
Years 

Between 
2 and 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying amount 
(assets)/liabilities 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
        
2020        
Non-derivatives         
Non-interest bearing  435,134 192,095 - - - 627,229 627,229 
        
Fixed rate        
Borrowings  2,008,418 - - - - 2,008,418 2,008,418 
Total Non-derivatives 2,443,552 192,095 - - - 2,635,647 2,635,647 
 

 

Consolidated  Less than 
6 Months 

6-12 
Months 

Between 
1 and 2 
Years 

Between 
2 and 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying amount 
(assets)/liabilities 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
        
2019        
Non-derivatives         
Non-interest bearing  492,060 808,957 - - - 1,301,017 1,301,017 
        
Fixed rate        
Borrowings  6,108,107 - - - - 6,108,107 6,108,107 
Total Non-derivatives 6,600,167 808,957 - - - 7,409,124 7,409,124 
 

d) Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, investments in unlisted 
subsidiaries) is determined using valuation techniques.  
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

e) Capital risk management 

The Group has no long term debt therefore capital is raised as and when it is required to do further exploration and 
development activities. 

 

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

The Group holds embedded derivatives on convertible notes which are valued based upon a valuation technique as 
discussed in note 16. 

As the inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Certain exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised where it is considered likely that the expenditure will be 
recovered by future exploitation or sale, or where activities have reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of 
the existence of commercially recoverable reserves. This process necessarily requires management to make certain 
estimates and assumptions regarding future commodity prices and level of demand for these commodities, production rates, 
metallurgical recovery and cost of production, which will affect the viability of the operations. Any such estimates and 
assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after having capitalised expenditure under this policy it is 
concluded unlikely that the expenditure will be recovered by future exploitation or sale, the relevant amount capitalised is 
written off to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Carried forward exploration and evaluation expenditures 
amounting to $2,548,023 are disclosed in note 13 and relate primarily to capitalisation and evaluation costs from activities in 
Queensland. 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees and other parties by reference to the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using either a Binomial or Black-
Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting 
estimate and assumptions relating to equity settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. Note 29 details the 
assumptions that have been used in determining the fair value of the options that have been granted. 

  

Malachite Resources Limited 2020 Annual Report 41



Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

and Controlled Entities 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

4 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The economic entity operates in two segments within mineral exploration and development in Australia. The Group has two 
reportable segments, as described below, for which the Board of Directors (the chief operating decision maker) reviews 
internal management reports on a regular basis. 

Lorena 

The development of the Group's main mining project, the Lorena Gold Project (“Lorena”) near Cloncurry in northwest 
Queensland. 

Other Tenements 

Carrying out exploration and seeking further development of other tenements. 

Segment assets 

Information about reportable segments 

The key segment assets as reported to the Board are as follows: 

 2020 2019 
Exploration  $   $  
Lorena 2,548,023 6,805,104 
 2,548,023 6,805,104 
 

 Lorena Other Tenements Corporate Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
2020     
Revenue from continuing 
operations 7,214                            -  1,113 8,327 
     
Accounting and audit expense                         -                             -                 (49,541)              (49,541) 
Corporate expenses (24,751) (267)             (264,774)            (289,792) 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense (7,203) -                (2,578)                (9,781) 
Employee benefits expense - -             (130,319)            (130,319) 
Evaluation and Exploration 
expenditure reversed           6,083 - -            6,083 
Impairment of Lorena Gold Project (4,250,000)                            -  - (4,250,000) 
Finance costs                         -                             -              (588,424)            (588,424) 
Loss before income tax expense  (4,268,657)  (267)  (1,034,523)  (5,303,447) 
     
Income tax expense                         -                             -                             -                           -  
Net loss for the year  (4,268,657)  (267) (1,034,523) (5,303,447) 
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 Lorena Other Tenements Corporate Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
2019     
Revenue from continuing 
operations 11,294                            -  7,758 19,052 
     
Accounting and audit expense                         -                             -                 (78,845)              (78,845) 
Corporate expenses (58,182) (263)             (236,782)            (295,227) 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense (8,892) -                (3,204)                (12,096) 
Employee benefits expense - -             (137,290)            (137,290) 
Evaluation and Exploration 
expenditure expensed           (408,768) - -            (408,768) 
Impairment of Lorena Gold Project (4,564,818)                            -  - (4,564,818) 
Finance costs                         -                             -              (978,743)            (978,743) 
Loss before income tax expense  (5,029,366)  (263)  (1,427,106)  (6,456,735) 
     
Income tax expense                         -                             -                             -                           -  
Net loss for the year  (5,029,366)  (263)  (1,427,106)  (6,456,735) 
 

5 REVENUE 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
From continuing operations and other income    
    
Exploration expenses recovered  - 2,906 
Interest  8,327 16,146 
  8,327 19,052 
 

6 EXPENSES 

The loss before income tax includes the following expenses:    
    
Depreciation of non-current assets:    
-  Property, Plant & equipment  8,078 10,023 
-  Motor vehicles  1,703 2,073 
Total Depreciation  9,781 12,096 
    

(Reversal)/Write off of exploration expenditure  (6,083) 408,768 

    

Finance costs  588,424 978,743 

    
 

  

Malachite Resources Limited 2020 Annual Report 43



Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

and Controlled Entities 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

7 INCOME TAX 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
a) The prima facie income tax benefit on pre-tax accounting loss 
reconciles to the income tax amount in the financial statements as 
follows: 
 

   

Loss from ordinary activities  (5,303,447) (6,456,735) 
Prima facie income tax benefit calculated at 27.5% (2019: 27.5%) 
of taxable loss 

 (1,458,448) (1,775,602) 

Non-deductible items    
Movement in unrecognised temporary differences   980,871 1,276,550 
Taxable losses not recognised  477,577 499,052 
Income tax expense  - - 
 

    
b) Franking account balance  230 230 
    
c) Tax losses    
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised. 

 55,059,465 49,756,018 

Potential tax benefit at 27.5%  15,141,353 13,682,905 
The Tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely subject to the condition imposed by Law. 

8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   

    
Cash at bank and on hand  27,998 695,947 
 

9 CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

GST receivables  - 52,276 
Prepayments  8,920 19,543 
  8,920 71,819 
    

a) Impaired receivables 
The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables is included in ‘Impairment of exploration assets 
and other receivables’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the allowance 
account are generally written off when there is no expectation of receiving additional cash. 
 
There are no impaired receivables for the Group or Parent and there were no receivables past due for the Group or 
Parent. 
 

b) Interest rate risk 
Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to receivables is provided in note 2. 
 

c) Fair value and credit risk 
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair values. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is their carrying amount of each class of receivables 
mentioned above. Refer to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group and the credit 
quality of the entity’s receivables. 
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10 JOINT OPERATIONS 

Information on Joint Operations 

The consolidated entity had a 55% interest in unincorporated joint operations of the Lorena Gold Project Joint Venture at 30 
June 2020. 

The key terms of the joint venture are: 

• the joint venture interests in the Project are Volga 55%, CGR 30% and OPS 15% for the open cut operation; 
and 

• Volga retains a 70% interest in any additional resources not within the open cut operation and within the Lorena 
Gold Project mining leases. 

Further, the Group had a funding arrangement with Chinova Resources Tennant Creek Pty Ltd (Chinova) and BIM Gold Pty 
Ltd (BIM), to fund the Group’s portion of cash calls. Any amounts paid by Chinova and BIM on behalf of the Group  became a 
non-recourse unsecured loan advance and are only recoverable from the Group’s share of profit from the sale of gold doré 
produced by the LGPJV. 

In December 2018, Chinova Resources Pty Ltd (Chinova) withdrew a working capital financing facility, which they had 
previously extended to joint venture participants to fund ongoing operations. 

Volga has initiated a Dispute Resolution process in accordance with the terms of the Joint Venture Deed dealing with 
numerous matters, which principally relate to achieving a reconciliation of historical expenditure of the joint venture, the 
contribution obligations of each parties to the joint venture (including cash calls made by the Manager to the joint venturers) 
and the future conduct of the joint venture.  Until a reconciliation is finalised, Volga is unable to confirm its financial position in 
relation to the joint venture and any past or future cash calls. 

Chinova has provided loan funds to the joint venture on Volga’s behalf on the basis that the loan balance is to be repaid, as a 
priority, from Volga’s share of funds that would normally be remitted to Volga from the sale of gold produce by the Lorena 
Gold Project. Volga has been unable to confirm its financial position in relation to the loan, as it relates to historical joint 
venture expenditure. 

The Group’s net expenses from the Project are being carried by CGR, OPS and BIM and are non-recourse unsecured loan 
advance with interest rate at 9%, and only recoverable from the Group’s share of gold produced.  As the Group’s share of the 
Projects revenue at 30 June 2020 is expected to be less than the Group’s share of the Projects expense which are non-
recourse to the Group, the Group’s investment in the Joint Venture at 30 June 2020 is $Nil.  

11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Tenement security deposits  387,759 387,259 
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Plant and equipment    
at cost  336,207 336,207 
accumulated depreciation  (302,233) (294,155) 
  33,974 42,052 
    
Motor Vehicles    
at cost  50,536 50,536 
accumulated depreciation  (42,716) (41,013) 
  7,820 9,523 
    
Total property, plant and equipment  41,794 51,575 
    
 

Movement in property, plant and equipment 

Motor Vehicles Property, Plant & 
Equipment 

 
 

Total 
 
 

 $ $ $ 
2020    
Balance at 01 July 2019 9,523 42,052 51,575 
Depreciation Expense (1,703) (8,078) (9,781) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 7,820 33,974 41,794 

    
2019    
Balance at 01 July 2018 11,596 52,075 63,671 
Depreciation Expense (2,073) (10,023) (12,096) 
Balance at 30 June 2019 9,523 42,052 51,575 
 

13 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in exploration 
and evaluation phases 

 2,548,023 6,805,104 

    

Movement for year    

Balance at beginning of year  6,805,104 11,365,373 

Received interest from security deposit  - 4,549 

Impairment Lorena gold project  (4,250,000) (4,564,818) 

Reversal of security deposit  (7,081) - 

Balance at end of year  2,548,023 6,805,104 
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13 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE (CONTINUED) 

The Group has reviewed its exploration assets for impairment at reporting date in accordance with the accounting policy 
stated in note 1 (g). As a result of this review and having regards to the current market conditions the following impairments 
have been made to the carrying value of assets 

Impairment of costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest 
in exploration and evaluation phases 

 2020 2019 

  $ $ 
Lorena  11,369,922 11,369,922 
Reversal of security deposit  (7,081) - 
Lorena - impaired  (8,814,818) (4,564,818) 
  2,548,023 6,805,104 
    
The Group impaired the value of the Lorena project by $4.25 million from its value of $6.805 million as at 30 June 2020.  This 
was due to the assumed under performance of the Lorena operation based on an assessment of the lower than expected 
gold sales over the period and the inability to resolve the ongoing dispute.   

14 INVESTMENTS 

    
Investment in Sunshine Minerals Limited  310,062 - 
 

15 CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables    
Trade creditors  114,329 408,232 
Other creditors  512,900 892,785 
  627,229 1,301,017 
 

16 BORROWINGS 

Current    
Unsecured Converting Notes (a)  1,227,925 - 
Unsecured Convertible Notes (b)  - 5,416,737 
Unsecured loans (c)  780,493 691,370 
  2,008,418 6,108,107 

a) Unsecured converting note 
The Series “E” Converting Notes have a face value of $1,215,800 and capitalised interest of $12,125 as at 30 June 
2020. The interest rate of Series “E” is 4% per annum payable in shares with maturity date of 31 March 2021. 
 

b) Unsecured convertible notes (Series A and D) 
On 30 April 2020, the principal of $4,450,000 was converted into fully paid ordinary shares and the accrued interest 
of $1,215,800 was converted into Series “E” Converting Notes. 
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16 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

c) Unsecured loans 
The Group had an balance of $135,000 in unsecured loans from Directors and $10,000 from a third party.  
The Group reached agreement with the loans from Key Management Personnel to extend the term of the existing 
loan to 1 October 2020. Unsecured loans totalling $65,000 have an interest rate of 12% per annum with interest 
paid at maturity and unsecured loans totalling $70,000 have an interest rate of 10% per annum with interest paid 
quarterly in arrears. 
 
The Group has an unsecured loan from OPS of $500,000 with accrued interest of $135,493 on 30 June 2020, which 
had a maturity date of 31 January 2019.   Subsequent to the year end, the Company has entered into a Deed of 
Debt Forgiveness with Ore Processing Services Pty Ltd pursuant to which outstanding loan liabilities to OPS have 
been forgiven.  
 

d) Joint Operations 
As detailed in Note 10, Chinova has provided loan funds to the joint venture on Volga’s behalf on the basis that the 
loan balance is to be repaid, as a priority, from Volga’s share of funds that would normally be remitted to Volga from 
the sale of gold produce by the Lorena Gold Project.  Volga has been unable to confirm its financial position in 
relation to the loan, as it relates to historical joint venture expenditure. 

 

17 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
68,022,604 fully paid ordinary shares (2019: 13,878,233 consolidated on 
100:1 basis) 

 62,696,576 57,306,800 

    
Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends and have no par value. 

a) Movement in ordinary share capital 

  Number of shares Issue price Share capital 
2019   $ $ 
1 July 2018  Opening balance 1,362,362,787  57,233,872 
15 October 2018 Conversion of convertible note 25,460,475 $0.00295 75,000 
15 October 2018 Transaction costs relating to share issues   (2,072) 
30 June 2019 Balance at end of year 1,387,823,262  57,306,800 
     
2020     
1 July 2019 Opening balance 1,387,823,262  57,306,800 
30 April 2020 Shares issued for Directors fees 716,590,296 $0.001 716,590 
30 April 2020 Shares issued for consultant fees 192,094,520 $0.001 192,094 
30 April 2020 Conversion of convertible note 4,450,000,000 $0.001 4,450,000 
30 April 2020 Convertible note rollover fees 55,725,470 $0.001 55,725 
30 April 2020 Shares consolidation on a 100:1 basis (6,734,210,944)   
 Transaction costs relating to share issues   (24,634) 
30 June 2020 Balance at end of year 68,022,604  62,696,576 
 

b) The Group's objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern (refer to note 1(a), 
so that it can continue to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group monitors capital on a 
regular basis in order to achieve the objectives. The Group's strategy has remained unchanged from the prior year.    
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18 RESERVES 

Share based payments reserve  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Balance at beginning of year  2,207,581 2,207,581 
Movements  - - 
Balance at end of year  2,207,581 2,207,581 
 

19 ACCUMULATED LOSSES 

    
Accumulated losses at beginning of financial year  (58,911,801) (52,455,066) 
Loss for the period  (5,303,447) (6,456,735) 
Accumulated losses at the end of financial year  (64,215,248) (58,911,801) 

    
20 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

a) Directors 

The directors of Malachite Resources Limited during the year were: 
Mr Terry Cuthbertson – Non-Executive Director 
Mr James Dean – Non-Executive Director 
Mr Geoffrey Hiller – Director (appointed on 4 October 2019) 
 
b) Other key management personnel 

Mr Geoffrey Hiller – Chief Executive Officer 

c)  Key Management Personnel compensation  

Short-term employee benefits  300,583 313,609 
Post-employment benefits  - - 
Long-term benefits  - - 
Share-based payments   - - 
  300,583 

 
313,609 

Detailed remuneration disclosures can be found in section (a) – (f) of the remuneration report contained in the Directors 
Report. 

d) Related party transactions 

Unsecured loans    
Terry Cuthbertson  79,334 70,813 
Geoffrey Hiller  70,411 41,992 

 

Converting/Convertible Notes    
Terry Cuthbertson  299,659 632,766 
James Dean  65,648 127,924 
Geoffrey Hiller  34,747 81,234 
Andrew McMillan (resigned 11 February 2019)  - 220,682 
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21 AUDITORS' REMUNERATION 

Remuneration of the auditor of the Group for: Audit services  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Audit and review of financial reports – current year  40,000 40,000 
Audit and review of financial reports – prior year  - 31,920 
  40,000 71,920 
  

22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

There are no material contingent liabilities for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 

23 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 

a) Capital Expenditure Commitments 

There are no capital commitments at the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 

b) Lease Commitments 

There are no lease commitments at the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil) 

c) Tenement Commitments 

Tenement Expenditure required under tenement 
licence 

   

    
Not later than one year  10,000 27,000 
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years  58,000 56,000 
Later than 2 years  - 29,000 

  68,000 112,000 
 

24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

a) Parent entity 

The parent entity within the Group is Malachite Resources Limited. 

b) Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 20. 
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25 INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITY 

Name of controlled entity Country of 
incorporation 

Class of shares Ownership 
interest 

2020 
% 

Ownership 
interest 

2019 
% 

     
Conrad Silver Mines Pty Ltd Australia 

 
Ordinary 100 100 

Volga Elderberry Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
     
     
     
26 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

Acquisition of Sunshine Minerals Limited 
 
On 15 July 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had executed a Term Sheet to acquire the remaining 85% 
interest in Sunshine Minerals Limited that it does not already own.  On 21 August 2020, the Company advised that it had 
executed a Share Purchase Agreement (Agreement) formalising the acquisition. 
 
The key terms of the Agreement include:  
  

• An initial payment of $850,000 to the remaining 85% shareholders in Sunshine by the issue of up to 10,617,954 fully 
paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.08 (Upfront Consideration Shares); 

• A further payment of $1,105,000 to the remaining 85% shareholders in Sunshine by the issue of up to 13,803,340 
fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issued price of $0.08 (Deferred Consideration Shares) (less 
any clawback or reduction for adjustments) upon the valid application for a mining lease for PL 01-18 being 
submitted to the Mines Department; and 

• All shares issued to the vendors are subject to voluntary escrow arrangements.  
 
The Agreement is subject to conditions precedent, including: 
 

• Sunshine entering into an agreement with Sunshine Nickel Limited (SNL) and the Landholders, on terms 
satisfactory to the Company, for the provision of funding by the Company to the Landholders (to be repaid from 
SNL’s cash flows and sale proceeds) for their portion of exploration and development costs relating to the Jejevo 
Nickel Project; and 

• the shareholders of the Company approving the transactions contemplated by the Agreement in a general meeting, 
including a resolution authorising the allotment and issue of the Upfront Consideration Shares and Deferred 
Consideration Shares to the Vendors in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. 

 
The Agreement is subject to standard warranties and representations for transactions of this nature. 
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26 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE (CONTINUED) 

Acquisition of Kolosori Nickel (SI) Limited 

On 1 September 2020 the Company announced to the ASX that it had signed a Term Sheet to acquire an 80% interest in 
Kolosori Nickel (SI) Limited (KNL).  

The key terms of the proposed acquisition of KNL are summarised below:  

• Payment of $750,000 by the issue of 9,375,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issue price 
of $0.08 (Upfront Consideration Shares); 

• Payment of $1,250,000 (less any debts not disclosed to the Company in the Term Sheet) by the issue of up to 
15,625,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a deemed issued price of $0.08 upon the granting of a 
mining licence for PL 05-19 by the Mines Department and confirmation of a  resource with a minimum of 6 million 
tonnes @ 1.6%Ni including 3.9 million tonnes @ 1.7% Ni to 2012 JORC (Deferred Consideration Shares);  

• The Upfront Consideration Shares and the Deferred Consideration Shares are subject to certain clawback or 
reductions for adjustments; and 

• All shares issued to the vendors to be subject to voluntary escrow arrangements.  

The Agreement is subject to conditions precedent, including: 

• The parties entering into a formal share sale agreement; 
• The Company entering into an agreement with KNL and the Landholders, on terms satisfactory to Malachite, for the 

provision of funding by the Company to the Landholders (to be repaid from KNL’s cash flows and sale proceeds) for 
their portion of  exploration and development costs relating to the Kolosori Nickel Project; and 

• the shareholders of the Company approving the transactions contemplated by the Term Sheet in a general meeting, 
including a resolution authorising the allotment and issue of the Upfront Consideration Shares and Deferred 
Consideration Shares to the KNL shareholders in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. 

 
Lorena Dispute Resolution 

On 28 July 2020, the Company announced to the ASX that it had entered into a Deed of Release to resolve the long running 
dispute in respect of the Lorena Project on commercial terms satisfactory to the Company. 

Key elements of the dispute resolution agreement include: 
 

• The Company has entered into a Share Sale Agreement (Agreement) with Lorena Gold Mine Pty Ltd and Ore 
Processing Services Pty Ltd (OPS).  Under the Agreement Lorena Gold Mine Pty Ltd will acquire 100% of the 
issued capital of Volga Elderberry Pty Ltd (Volga).  The Deed of Release is conditional on the Share Sale 
Agreement completing; 

• The Company has received an initial payment of $50,000 and will receive a further $130,000 within 90 days subject 
to agreed adjustments; 

• Conditions precedent include the Company entering into an agreement to receive a 2% Net Smelter Return on gold 
produced from future underground operations at Lorena; 

• The Lorena joint venture parties have entered into a Deed of Release in respect of obligations and liabilities arising 
out of the Lorena Gold Project; and 

• The Company has also entered into a Deed of Debt Forgiveness with Ore Processing Services Pty Ltd pursuant to 
which outstanding loan liabilities to OPS have been forgiven. The loan amount that was forgiven by OPS is 
$637,342.47 at the time the Deed of Debt Forgiveness was entered. 

 
The Company will seek shareholder and any necessary regulatory approvals for the proposed sale of Volga. 
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26 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE (CONTINUED) 

The Company will retain 100% of EPM 18908 which holds the Bloodwood copper/gold and Lady Mary gold prospects where 
encouraging exploration was previously undertaken by the Company.  The Company is now able to focus on this tenement 
given an agreement has been entered to resolve the dispute. 

Conversion of Series E converting notes 

On 3 August 2020, the Company announced the conversion of all Series E Converting Notes (principal and interest) into 
ordinary shares.  The Company issued 15,400,703 shares at $0.08 per share upon the conversion. 

Capital Raising 

On 17 August 2020, the Company completed a share placement raising $625,000 by the issue of 20,833,334 ordinary shares 
at $0.03 per share. 

In August 2020, the Company carried out a Share Purchase Plan (SPP) for existing shareholders at $0.03 per share. The 
SPP raised $611,000 and 20,366,659 shares were allotted on 7 September 2020. 

Appointment of Director 

On 3 September 2020, the Company confirmed the appointment of Mr. Robert Thomson as an independent non-executive 
Director of the Company. 

Mr Thomson is a Mining Engineer with extensive experience (gold and base metals) in site operations, the development of 
exploration projects into sustainable mining operations and businesses in Asia, Africa and Australia. 

Mr Thomson has previously been closely involved in various capacities such as CEO/Executive Director and Site General 
Manager/Project Director in various companies advancing exploration projects through various stages including feasibility 
works, government approvals, financing, development, construction of infrastructure and processing plants, commissioning 
and sustainable operations. These include:  

• Finder’s Wetar Island 25,000 tpa copper cathode project in Indonesia;
• Kingsgate’s 125,000+ ozpa  Chatree Stage 1 open-cut gold mine in Thailand;
• Oxiana’s 125,000+ ozpa  Sepon Stage 1 open-cut CIL gold mine in Laos; and
• Climax Mining’s Didipio 150,000+ oz (gold equivalent) gold/copper project in the Philippines which was successfully

merged into Oceana Gold.

27 NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

a) Reconciliation of Cash

For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money 
market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of 
cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Cash 27,998 695,947 
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27 NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 

b) Reconciliation of operating profit after income tax to net cash flows from operating activities.

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Operating loss after income tax (5,303,447) (6,456,735) 
Non cash 
Depreciation 9,781 12,096 
Impairment of assets 4,250,000 4,564,818 
Capitalised interest 306,311 310,095 
Other non-cash transactions 3,449 - 

Changes in assets and liabilities 
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables 52,276 66,231 
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments 10,623 6,616 
Increase/(decrease) in payables 154,384 36,582 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (516,623) (1,460,297) 

28 LOSS PER SHARE 

Basic/diluted loss per share (cents per share) (23.0) (46.9) 

Number Number 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 
basic/diluted loss per share 

22,864,331 13,761,712 

The weighted number of ordinary shares for the period ending 30 June 2019 has been restated to reflect the 100:1 
consolidation which occurred during the current period. 

29 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

a) Options issued to Employees and Directors

(i) Employee Option Plan

No options were granted to Employees for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 

(ii) Directors Options

No options were granted to Directors for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 

b) Shares issued for services under a share based payment arrangement during the year.

No shares issued for services under a share based payment arrangement during the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 

Shares issued for accrued directors’ fees. 

c) Options issued for services under a share based payment arrangement during the year.

No options issued for services under a share based payment arrangement during the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 
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30 PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

a) Summary financial information 

The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts: 

  2020 2019 
Statement of Financial Position  $ $ 
    
    
Current assets  36,489 765,187 
Non-current assets  12,234,698 11,925,325 
Total assets  12,271,187 12,690,512 
Current liabilities  2,610,146 7,384,723 
Non-current liabilities  249,224 249,224 
Total liabilities  2,859,370 7,633,947 
Net Assets  9,411,817 5,056,565 

Equity    
Contributed equity  62,696,576 57,306,800 
Option reserve expense  2,207,581 2,207,581 
Accumulated losses  (55,492,340) (54,457,816) 
Total equity  9,411,817 5,056,565 

    
Loss for the year  (1,034,524) (1,427,106) 
Total comprehensive income  (1,034,524) (1,427,106) 
    
 

b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity 

The parent entity did not have any financial guarantees as at 30 June 2020. 

 

c) Contingent liability of parent entity 

The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Malachite Resources Limited, the directors of the company declare that: 

1) The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 24 to 55, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
a) Comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1(a) to the financial

statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards; and
b) Give a true and fair view of the Company’s consolidated financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance

for the year ended on that date; and

2) In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable; and

3) This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made in accordance with section 295A of
the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

On behalf of the Board 

Terry Cuthbertson  

Non-Executive Chairman 

Sydney, 30 September 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF MALACHITE RESOURCES LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Malachite Resources Limited (the Company), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the Group comprising the Company and the 
entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Material Uncertainty Regarding to Going Concern 

Without qualifying our conclusion, we draw your attention to Note 1 in the financial report which 
indicates that the consolidated entity has current liabilities amounting to $2,635,647 which exceeds its 
current assets by $2,598,729 as at 30 June 2020 and during the year had net cash outflows from 
operation of $516,623. As at 30 June 2020, the continuing viability of the consolidated entity and its 
ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and commitments as and when they fall due 
are dependent upon successful completion of some or all of the following: 

• the continued investment in Sunshine Minerals (subsequent to the Period the Company
formalised an agreement to acquire the remaining 85% of Sunshine Minerals it does not
already own);

• achieving a positive outcome in respect of the dispute with the Lorena joint venture partners
relating to the Lorena Gold Project (subsequent to the Period, the Company entered into a
Deed of Release to resolve the dispute);

• raising equity or debt through the capital markets (subsequent to the Period the Company
reached an agreement with the Series E Noteholders to convert their notes into shares,
carried out a share placement, and completed a share purchase plan);

• the possibility of successfully sourcing an alternative project in which the Group might
participate (subsequent to the Period the Company entered into a Terms Sheet to acquire
80% of KNL); or

• entering into a corporate transaction.

These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast doubt about the consolidated entity's ability to continue as a going concern 
and, therefore, the consolidated entity may be unable to realise assets and settle its liabilities in the 
normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 
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Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibility section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the Ethical 
Requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Key Audit Matter 

Recoverability of capitalised Exploration and 

evaluation expenditure 

As at 30 June 2020, the carrying value of 
capitalised Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
was $2.5M as disclosed in note 13. During the 
year, impairment of $4.25M was recognised. 

The assessment of the carrying value of capitalised 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure requires 
management to make significant accounting 
judgements and estimates in producing the 
discounted cash flow model used to determine 
whether the assets require impairment in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standard 
AASB 136 Impairment. 

The Directors have considered the carrying value 
of the Lorena project and determined the carrying 
value is accurate and no further impairment is 
required. 

MNSA Pty Ltd 

ABN 59 133 605 400 

Level 1, 283 George St 

Sydney NSW 2000 
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How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

We have evaluated the appropriateness of 
management's judgements that there is no 
additional facts or circumstances that suggest the 
carrying amount of Exploration and evaluation 
expenditure exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Based on our procedures, we noted that the 
capitalised Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
asset is fairly stated. 
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Going Concern 

Following operating losses and cash flow 
deficits there is a heightened degree of 
judgement as to the group's ability to repay 
loans and liabilities throughout the going 
concern assessment period. Accordingly, we 
considered the appropriateness of the going 
concern assumption, the question as to whether 
there is a material uncertainty and the adequacy 
of management's disclosure to be a key risk. 

MNSA Pty Ltd 
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We have challenged the key assumptions in 
management's forecast cash flows for the next 
12 months (base case and downside 
possibilities) by: 

• comparing the cash flow forecasts with
the Board approved budget, and
obtaining explanations for any
significant differences;
• assessing the historical accuracy of
forecasts prepared by management;
• comparing the gold price assumptions
used in these forecasts to third party
forecasts and publicly available forward
curves;
• testing the mechanical accuracy of the
model used;

• agreeing the group's committed debt
facilities and repayments to supporting
documentation;
• performing stress tests for a range of
reasonably possible scenarios
(including gold price) on management's
cash flow for the going concern period;
• challenging management's plans for
mitigating any identified exposures,
including their ability to amend the
terms of their existing financing
arrangements, obtain additional sources
of financing or undertake additional
asset disposals; and
• considering whether the disclosures
relating to going concern referred to in
the basis of preparation section of the
accounting policies are balanced,
proportionate and clear.

We have determined that there are material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on 
the group's ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
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Other lnfonnation 

The directors of Malachite Resources Limited are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information in the Group's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but 
does not include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with 
Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements, the financial statements comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar2.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor's report. 
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Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 
2020. 

In our opinion the remuneration report of Malachite Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of Malachite Resources Limited are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

MNSA Pty Ltd 

Mark Schiliro 
Director 

Sydney 

Dated this 30th day of September 2020 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AS AT 19 OCTOBER 2020: 

Fully paid ordinary shares: 
(a) Total shares issued  127,956,634 
(b) Percentage held by 20 largest shareholders     61.06% 
(c) Shareholders with less than marketable parcel of shares  1,163    
(d) There is not a current on-market buy-back
(e) Voting rights: Every shareholder present personally or by proxy or attorney etc. shall, on a

show of hands, have one vote and on a poll shall have one vote for every share held. No voting
rights attach to options.

(f) Distribution schedule of fully paid ordinary shares:
Range Total holders Units % Units 

1 - 1,000 844 240,205 0.19 

1,001 - 5,000 274 697,982 0.55 

5,001 - 10,000 88 702,983 0.55 

10,001 - 100,000 239 8,203,976 6.41 

100,001 Over 111 118,111,488 92.31 

Total 1,556 127,956,634 100.00 

Top 20 Shareholders: 
Rank Name Shares Held % 

1. Michael John McCahill <ATF MJ McCahill Ta/C> 11,142,575 8.71 

2. Sean McCahill Properties Ltd 11,142,575 8.71 

3. Kore Management Services Pty Ltd <Cuthbertson Super Fund A/C> 7,657,388 5.98 

4. Heavy Duty Superannuation Pty Limited <Heavy Duty Super Fund A/C> 6,658,640 5.20 

5. AGIO Solutions Pty Ltd 5,571,288 4.35 

6. Mr Andrew McMillan + Mrs Sally McMillan <The McMillan Super Fund A/C> 4,144,712 3.24 

7. Construction Equipment Finance Limited <The Futura A/C> 3,528,618 2.76 

8. Bendane Pty Ltd 3,465,988 2.71 

9. Monterey Consolidated Services Pty Ltd <Lorodaca Super Fund> 3,333,334 2.61 

10. Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,010,200 2.35 

11. BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <DRP> 2,564,539 2.00 

12. Arlington Partners Fund Ltd 2,433,334 1.90 

13. Highshaw Pty Ltd <Highshaw No 2 A/C> 2,370,946 1.85 

14. Dalbow Superannuation Pty Ltd <Executives Super Fund A/C> 1,909,607 1.49 

15. Beebee Holdings Pty Ltd 1,825,000 1.43 

16. Mr Geoffrey Ross Hiller + Mrs Jacqueline Ann Hiller <Highshaw Super Fund A/C> 1,719,220 1.34 

17. Mr Wilhelm Schroder 1,583,334 1.24 

18. Elliott Services Pty Ltd <The Elliott Family A/C> 1,500,000 1.17 

19. J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 1,374,669 1.07 

20. B J Watkins Pty Ltd <B J Watkins Super Fund A/C> 1,200,000 0.94 

TOTALS 78,135,967 61.06 

Unquoted Securities: 
Security Type Number Terms 
Options 7,500,000 Exercise Price $0.06 Expiry Date expiring 30 September 2023  

(Subject to Escrow for 12 months). 
Options 4,000,000 Exercise Price $0.06 Expiry Date expiring 30 September 2023 

(not transferrable). 

Substantial Holders: 
Substantial Holder Number of Shares Held Voting Power 
Terry Cuthbertson 12,409,489 9.70 
Michael John McCahill <ATF MJ McCahill Ta/C> 11,142,575 8.71 
Sean McCahill Properties Ltd 11,142,575 8.71 
Lindsay Jones 7,178,645 5.61 

Malachite Resources Limited 2020 Annual Report 62



CORPORATE DIRECTORY 

Malachite Resources Limited 
ABN 86 075 613 268 

Directors  
Terry Cuthbertson 
James A. Dean  
Geoffrey R. Hiller 
Robert Thomson 

Chief Executive Officer 
Geoffrey R. Hiller 

Secretary  
Andrew J. Cooke 

Principal and Registered Office  
Level 4, 283 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000  
Telephone: + 61 (0) 2 9251 0032 

Email: info@malachite.com.au 

Share Registry  
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
Level 3, 60 Carrington Street 
Sydney, NSW, 2000 

Enquiries within Australia: 1 300 556 161  
Enquiries outside Australia: + 61 3 9415 4000 
Email: web.queries@computershare.com.au  
Website: www.computershare.com.au 

Stock Exchange Listing  
The Company’s shares are quoted on the 
Official List of the Australian Securities 
Exchange Limited.  
ASX Code: MAR 

Website  
www.malachite.com.au 

Postal Address  
PO Box R1295  
Royal Exchange NSW 1225 

2020 Corporate Governance Statement 
The Company’s 2020 Corporate Governance Statement can be found on the Corporate Governance page of 
the Company’s Website: http://www.malachite.com.au/irm/content/corporate-governance.aspx?RID=248 
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